THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In the Court of Appeals

---

APPEAL FROM GREENVILLE COUNTY  
Common Pleas Court  
D. Garrison Hill, Circuit Court Judge

---

Case No.: 2014-002464

---

Laurin Stinson.....Respondent,

## STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

Did the trial court err in its FLSA's minimum wage damage calculation performed pursuant to Respondent's motion for partial summary judgment by not recognizing the compulsory service charges paid to Respondent as a wage thereby reducing Appellants' liability and making summary judgment inappropriate in its entirety?

## STATEMENT OF CASE

On May 30, 2013, Respondent filed a complaint against the Appellants alleging that they failed to pay her minimum wage and overtime during her employment as a server at the Hans & Franz Restaurant. As to the minimum wage claim, Respondent alleged that "Defendant impermissibly shifted operating costs to Plaintiff by deducting sums from her wages, thereby reducing her hourly compensation amount below minimum wage [and that] Defendant did not pay Plaintiff minimum wage during her training period." (Pl.'s comp. ¶ 21-22).

As to the overtime claim, Respondent alleged that "Defendant impermissibly calculated Plaintiff's overtime rate at 150% of her tip credit wage, rather than minimum wage. . . [thereby leading] to a deficiency in Plaintiff's compensation." (Pl.'s comp. ¶ 24-25).

After conducting discovery, Respondent seemed to abandon the overtime claim and focus on the minimum wage claim. Respondent was paid for her services pursuant to a tip credit scheme (\$2.13 per hour in direct wages + \$5.12 tip credit = \$7.25 minimum wage). Essentially, Respondent's minimum wage claim rested solely on the trial court's interpretation of § 203(m) of the FLSA which lays out the rules employers must follow when they pay their employees pursuant to a tip credit scheme. 29 U.S.C. § 203(m) mandates that in order to take a tip credit the employer must: (1) inform the employee of the tip credit; and **(2) allow the employee to retain all their tips.**

Respondent made the argument that because she was not allowed to retain all her tips Appellants cannot benefit from a tip credit thereby deeming her hourly wage to only \$2.13 in direct wages<sup>1</sup>. Respondent moved for partial summary judgment on this issue alone.

Appellants argued that even if this was the case they would be entitled to an offset by the sums distributed to Respondent as service charges. (Pl's Motion in Opp. P. 4 *relying on* U.S. Dept. of Labor Fact Sheet # 15). At the Hans & Franz Restaurant, each party of six (6) or more guests is assessed a mandatory 20% service charge added to the costs of the bill. Specifically, Appellants argued that the monies paid to Respondent as service charges were wages rather than tips; therefore, they would be entitled to an off-set against their minimum wage obligations.

The trial court granted Respondent's motion for partial summary judgment in reliance of Respondent's interpretation of 29 U.S.C. § 203 and calculated her actual damages as \$9,587.25. To arrive at this number, the trial court multiplied the amount of the tip credit (\$5.12) x the number of hours Respondent worked (1872.51). (Tr. Ct.'s Order p. 3). This calculation only accounts for the \$2.13 Respondent received per hour and does not account for the service charge wages Respondent received<sup>2</sup>.

Appellants timely filed a notice of appeal with the South Carolina Court of Appeals. The main contested issue pending before the Appellate Court is whether the trial court erred in its damage calculation thus making the trial court's granting of summary judgment not appropriate in its entirety.

---

<sup>1</sup> Appellants had a policy in place that required all servers to return 1% of their total credit card tips in cash at the end of each shift. This policy was voted on by all the wait staff, including Respondent, who approved this policy in lieu of Appellants hiring individuals to bus the tables and share a percentage of the tips.

<sup>2</sup> The trial court used the \$5.12 figure because that was the amount of the tip credit that Appellants took in regards to Respondent. This calculation assumes that Respondent only made \$2.13 per hour while she was employed at the Appellants' restaurant.

## ARGUMENT

- I. The trial court erred in its actual damage calculation for owed wages because Appellants are entitled to use the service charges they paid to Respondent to satisfy their minimum wage obligations.**

Employers in the United States are required to pay employees minimum wage. 29 U.S.C. § 206(a)(1). (Currently \$7.25 per hour). However, Congress has provided an exception to this minimum wage requirement in that employers are permitted to pay less than minimum wage to employees who receive tips. 29 U.S.C. § 203(m).

The mechanism that § 203(m) creates is known as the “tip credit.” The tip credit allows employers to use a portion of the employee’s tip income to supplement its minimum wage obligation to the employee, so long as the employee’s combined cash wage and tip income meets or exceeds the minimum wage.

This is exactly how the Appellants paid the Respondent. Respondent was paid a direct cash wage of \$2.13 per hour plus tips. However, as Appellants argued before the trial court, the service charges paid to Respondent are not deemed tips under FLSA and are actually wages just like the \$2.13 per hour that she was paid. Since Respondent was paid these wages in addition to the \$2.13 per hour, Appellants are entitled to use these monies to off-set their minimum wage obligations. This off-set was not factored into the trial court’s damage calculation.

- a. The services charges paid to Respondent were wages rather than tips because they were compulsory charges added to the customer’s bill and were paid to Respondent by Appellants out of the Appellants’ gross receipts.**

“A compulsory charge for service, such as 15 percent of the amount of the bill, imposed on a customer by an employer’s establishment, is not a tip and, even if distributed by the

employer to its employees, cannot be counted as a tip received in applying the provisions of section 3(m) and 3(t).” 29 CFR 531.55(a) (Examples of Amounts Not Received as Tips).

Further, both the U.S. Department of Labor and the IRS treat service charges as wages and not as tips. See; 29 CFR 531.55(b); (As stated above, service charges and other similar sums which become part of the employer’s gross receipts are not tips for the purposes of the Act.). Wage-Hour Opinion Letter 2005-31; IRS Revenue Ruling 2012-18.

Most importantly, **“[w]here such sums [service charges] are distributed by the employer to its employees, however, they may be used in their entirety to satisfy the monetary requirements of the Act.”** 29 CFR 531.55(b).

The service charge law was set forth to the trial court by Appellants’ citation of the United States Department of Labor Fact Sheet # 15 “Tipped Employees under the Fair Labor Standards Act (FLSA).” This fact sheet further expresses what is codified in the regulations. The fact sheet defines service charges as:

A compulsory charge for service, for example, 15 percent of the bill, is not a tip. Such charges are part of the employer’s gross receipts. Sums distributed to employees from service charges cannot be counted as tips received, **but may be used to satisfy the employer’s minimum wage and overtime obligations under the FLSA.** If an employee receives tips in addition to the compulsory service charge, those tips may be considered in determining whether the employee is a tipped employee and in the application of the tip credit. (See p. 4 and Exhibit 5 of Apps’ Motion in Opp.)

By contravention, a “tip” is defined as follows:

A tip is a sum presented by a customer as a gift or gratuity in recognition of some service performed for him. It is to be distinguished from payment of a charge, if any, made for the service. Whether a tip is to be given, and its amount, are matters determined solely by the customer, who has the right to determine who shall be the recipient of the gratuity. Tips are the property of the employee whether or not the employer has taken a tip credit under section 3(m) of the FLSA. The employer is prohibited from using an employee’s tips, whether or not it has taken a tip credit, for any reason other than that which is statutorily permitted in section 3(m): As a credit against its minimum wage

obligations to the employee, or in furtherance of a valid tip pool. 29 C.F.R. § 531.52.

As evidenced by the aforementioned regulations, service charges tacked onto a restaurant patron's bill are clearly not tips that automatically belong to the tipped employee<sup>3</sup>. There is a bright-line distinction between charges tacked on to a bill and monies that the customer gratuitously gives to the tipped employee. The most important distinction here is that service charges, when paid to the tipped employee, can be used to satisfy minimum wage obligations where ordinary tips cannot. The question then turns to whether or not the mandatory 20% fee added to six (6) or more patron's bill at Appellants' restaurant meets all the requirements of a "service charge" as such is defined by 29 CFR 531.55(a) and (b).

Appellants contend that the fees meet all such requirements because it was compulsory, and not gratuitous, and it was paid to the Respondent out of the Appellants' gross receipts.

**i. The 20% fee was paid out to Respondent from Appellants' gross receipts.**

Since the inception of the Hans & Franz restaurant, all parties of six (6) or more people are assessed a 20% fee for service. The computerized Point of Sale system at the Hans & Franz restaurant automatically, and without reservation of the employee, tacks a 20% fee on the total bill amount for parties of six (6) or more.

Most all courts analyzing the classification of service charge require that the monies be paid from the employer's gross receipts. McFeeley v. Jackson St. Entm't, LLC, No. 12 Civ. 1019 (DKC), 2012 WL 5928769, at \*4 (D. Md. Nov. 26, 2012) ("[A]n employer must include

---

<sup>3</sup> Specifically speaking Respondent contends that these monies, if paid to the tipped employee, are commission payments. See 29 CFR § 778.117 (Commission Payments); Department of Labor Glossary (elaws) – Commissions (A commission is a sum of money paid to an employee based on the sale of a certain amount of goods or services. Commissions may be paid in the form of compulsory (or mandatory) service charges expressed as a specific percentage of the customer's bill).

payments in its records as gross receipts as a prerequisite to ‘service charge’ classification under the FLSA.’” (quoting Reich v. ABC/York-Estes Corp., No. 91 Civ. 6265 (BM), 1997 WL 264379, at \*5 (N.D. Ill. May 12, 1997)).

Otherwise, the charge is treated, under the FLSA, as a “tip” and may not be applied against the establishment’s minimum-wage obligations. In a recent District Court opinion, the Court explained the logic behind why such monies have to be paid from the establishment’s gross receipts in order to qualify as a service charge. Hart v. Rick’s Cabaret Intern., Inc., 967 F. Supp. 2d 901 (S.D.N.Y. 2013). Hart involved exotic dancers who alleged they were misclassified as salary exempt and sought owed minimum wages pursuant to the FLSA. One of the issues in Hart was whether the performance fees set by the night club and paid to the dancers for time spent with the customers was a service charge or a tip. Hart, 967 F.Supp. 2d at 927. If the money was deemed a service charge then the night club could off-set any owed minimum wage claim by amounts paid out as service charges.

In addressing the gross receipt requirement, the Court in Hart explained;

The requirement of inclusion in gross receipts advances the FLSA’s goal of assuring that the employee is paid, with mandatory deductions taken from the employee’s wages. These deductions (e.g., Social Security, Medicare) are taken in the employee’s longer-term interest, to assure, e.g., her retirement security. See Helvering v. Davis, 301 U.S. 619, 641, 57 S.Ct. 904, 81 L.Ed. 1307 (1937) (purpose of FICA taxes is “to save men and women from the rigors of the poor house as well as from the haunting fear that such a lot awaits them when journey’s end is near”); Bowman v. Stumbo, 735 F.2d 192, 196 (6th Cir.1984) (these tax programs were “created by the Social Security Act of 1935 as a part of the comprehensive program for implementing old age benefits on a national level”); Greenwald v. United States, No. 98 Civ. 3439(DC), 2000 WL 16939, at \*2 (S.D.N.Y. Jan. 10, 2000) (“The purpose of FICA taxes is to fund a national system of social security and [M]edicare health programs.”). Requiring that service charges pass through the employer’s gross receipts guarantees that the employer takes responsibility for its employees’ wages, and effectively guarantees that such mandatory deductions are taken. By contrast, where customers pay employees directly, and the

employer is left out of the payment process, there is no assurance that such deductions will be taken.

Hart, 967 F.Supp. 2d at 927.

The service charges at issue in the present matter were paid from the Appellants' gross receipts. These fees can be seen on the Point of Sale documents generated by Respondent and submitted to the trial court. (See Exhibit 5 of Defs' Motion in Opp.). These documents contain Respondent's gross receipts, charged tips, and service charges for every two weeks of her employment. The service charges are under the heading "Svc Charges." The corresponding numbers are composed of the 20% fees that were added to the bill for six (6) or more guests. The Respondent was paid these monies along with her charged tips and her hourly wage of \$2.13 in a bi-weekly paycheck. The mandatory deductions, FICA, Medicare, Social Security, and state taxes, were deducted from the charged tips, the hourly wage, and the service charges paid to Respondent.

Ultimately, these monies were service charges as such are defined by the Department of Labor regulations. The regulations are clear that if these monies, which belong to the employer, are paid to the employee they can be used in their entirety to satisfy minimum wage obligations. 29 CFR 531.55(b).