THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM GREENVILLE COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

D. Garrison Hill, Circuit Judge

Case No. 2014-002464

RECEIVED

APR 03 2015

SC Court of Appeals

Laurin Stinson,

Respondent,

v.

Hans & Franz, LLC d/b/a
Hans & Franz Biergarten,
Addy's Dutch Café and
Restaurant, Addy Sulley &
Juergen Haubach,

Appellants.

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

Brian P. Murphy
Jeffrey P. Dunlaevy
Stephenson & Murphy, LLC
207 Whitsett Street
Greenville, South Carolina 29601
(864) 370-9400
Attorneys for Respondent

April 1, 2015

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

ARGUMENT

I. Appellants' argument that the Circuit Court erred in calculating damages is not preserved for appeal.

a. Appellants did not make the argument to the Circuit Court.

In order to be preserved for review, an argument must be made in the court below. *Wilder Corp. v. Wilke*, 330 S.C. 71, 76, 497 S.E.2d 731, 733 (1998) (“It is axiomatic that an issue cannot be raised for the first time on appeal, but must have been raised to and ruled upon by the trial judge to be preserved for appellate review.”). The purpose of this requirement is to ensure the trial judge has the opportunity to consider and rule on the precise issue that forms the basis for appeal. *Collins Entertainment Corp. v. Coats & Coats Rental Amusement*, 368 S.C. 410, 418, 629 S.E.2d 635, 639 (2006) (a general, non-specific argument that does not encompass the specific grounds raised on appeal does not preserve the issue); *State v. Hamilton*, 344 S.C. 344, 361, 543 S.E.2d 586, 595 (Ct. App. 2001) *overruled on other grounds by State v. Gentry*, 363 S.C. 93, 610 S.E.2d 494 (2005) (“In order to preserve for review an alleged error, the objection should be sufficiently specific to bring into focus the precise nature of the alleged error so it can be reasonably understood by the trial judge.”).

Appellants made several arguments in response to Stinson’s motion for partial summary judgment.² On appeal, they make only one. Appellants contend that Stinson received a twenty percent “service charge” when she waited on tables of six or more

² Appellants contended that when credit card tips were considered, Stinson made more than the minimum wage, even accounting for the improper deductions taken out of her tips. R. 116 (Resp. to SJ Mot. 4). They also argued that because they could have, but did not, deduct from her credit card tips a fee that was imposed by the credit card companies, their deduction of a “breakage fee” did not actually prejudice Stinson. *Id.* Appellants have abandoned these arguments.

customers. According to Appellants, such service charges were compulsory (i.e., customers were not given the option to decline to pay the service charge or choose a different percentage, as with regular tips) and were included in the restaurant's gross receipts and paid to Stinson. Appellants argue that the service charges therefore count as wages and can be used as "an off-set against [Appellants'] minimum wage obligations." Resp. Br. 2.

Appellants made a materially different argument in the Circuit Court. First, Appellants repeatedly acknowledged that the only wage they paid Stinson was the base rate of \$2.13 per hour:

The Defendant did take a tip credit of \$5.12 and paid all the servers \$2.13 per hour. The calculation used was \$7.25 (minimum wage) minus the minimum required wage for tip credit schemes (\$2.13) which equals \$5.12.

R. 114 (Resp. to SJ Mot. 2). *See also*, R. 174 (Defs. Suppl. Resp. to Pl. 1st Interrog. No. 14) ("[t]he rate of pay is \$2.13 an hour"). Appellants did not submit any calculation of a higher hourly, weekly or per-pay-period rate based on adding the service charge to regular wages. They neither argued nor submitted admissible proof that the charges were compulsory.

Instead, Appellants argued that their improper deductions from Stinson's tips should be excused because, viewed cumulatively over the course of Stinson's employment, the service charges, which Appellant supposedly could have treated as wages, were larger than the improper deductions:

Your Honor, the service credit that my client paid to the Plaintiff is \$5,948.70. What she's claiming is the one percent deduction that she was cheated out of is \$994.

So if we're looking at the big picture here and saying you took \$994 from me, however, we paid you \$5,948.70 that we didn't have to pay you, I fail to see the violation of the Fair Labor Standards Act. The Fair Labor Standards Act says that service credit, which is clearly in exhibit number four that we provided, is not tip wages.

So if we're paying something to you, money, that you're not entitled to anyway, but we do it gratuitously, I think we get some sort of benefit from it.

R. 284 (2/18/14 Hearing Tr.). In other words, Appellants did not argue that re-calculating Stinson's wages to include service charges eliminated the minimum wage violations. Appellants merely argued that it would be unfair to deny them the benefit of the tip credit when the amount of their unlawful deductions, over the life of her employment, was allegedly smaller than the lifetime amount of service charge payments.

In light of the clear disconnect between what Appellants argued to Judge Hill and the argument that appears in their brief to this Court, they cannot be said to have raised below the argument they now make. Judge Hill could not have reasonably understood that Appellants were asking him to find that the regular wage was something other than \$2.13 per hour. Appellants failed to articulate their argument in the court below in a manner "sufficiently specific to bring into focus the precise nature of the alleged error so it [could] be reasonably understood by the trial judge." *Hamilton*, 344 S.C. 344, 361, 543 S.E.2d 586, 595.

b. Appellants were required to file a timely Rule 59(e) Motion to Reconsider but failed to do so.

When a party wishes to preserve an issue for appeal that is not addressed in the order it wishes to appeal from, it is incumbent on such party to raise the issue in a timely motion to reconsider pursuant to Rule 59(e). *Wilder Corp. v. Wilke*, 330 S.C. 71, 77, 497 S.E.2d 731, 734 (1998); *Noisette v. Ismail*, 304 S.C. 56, 58, 403 S.E.2d 122, 124 (1991). A Rule 59(e) motion serves as an important means of ensuring that if an error was made, the court below has the chance to correct it. *I'On, L.L.C. v. Town of Mt. Pleasant*, 338 S.C. 406, 422, 526 S.E.2d 716, 724 (2000) (error preservation requirement "prevents a

party from keeping an ace card up his sleeve—intentionally or by chance—in the hope that an appellate court will accept that ace card and, via a reversal, give him another opportunity to prove his case”). Thus, the purpose of a Rule 59(e) motion is not to reargue matters already decided but to alert the trial judge to issues that may have been overlooked. *Wilder Corp.*, 330 S.C. at 77, 497 S.E.2d at 734 (“Post-trial motions are not necessary to preserve issues that have been ruled upon at trial; they are used to preserve those that have been raised to the trial court but not yet ruled upon by it.”).

Questions concerning the proper measure of damages frequently necessitate Rule 59(e) motions. In *Rickborn v. Liberty Life Ins. Co.*, 321 S.C. 291, 468 S.E.2d 292 (1996), the defendant appealed a judgment against it on the grounds that the court below improperly added pre-judgment interest. This Court refused to consider the issue because the defendant had not filed a timely Rule 59(e) motion objecting to the amount of the judgment. *Id.* at 305, 468 S.E.2d at 300-01. *Lukacs v. Walker*, 301 S.C. 80, 390 S.E.2d 365 (Ct. App. 1990), involved a contract dispute in which the plaintiff was granted summary judgment. This Court rejected the defendant’s attempt to challenge the amount of the judgment based on a set-off theory that had not been properly articulated in the court below:

Although the trial judge granted Lukacs’ motion for summary judgment [from the bench] without placing a specific dollar amount on it, the figure of \$12,308.80 is clearly due under the contract upon which summary judgment was granted. Strico presented no affidavits or other evidence disputing the amount owed and attempts to argue a right to set-off for the first time on appeal. We therefore find the written order granting summary judgment in the amount of \$12,308.80 is consistent with the order from the bench granting summary judgment based on the contract. We further note that Strico failed to make a motion under Rule 59(e) S.C.R.C.P. for the trial judge to alter or amend the judgment rendered in the written order.

Id. at 83, 390 S.E.2d at 366. *See also, Mason v. Gossett*, 303 S.C. 466, 468, 401 S.E.2d 425, 426 (Ct. App. 1991) (where party failed to file Rule 59(e) motion objecting to trial court's order of new trial on damages, the issue was not preserved for appellate review).

Even if Appellants fairly notified Judge Hill of their argument that the service charge should be treated as part of wages for purposes of determining the weekly rate of pay, Judge Hill's Order did not address such argument. Judge Hill's Order says nothing whatsoever about the service charge on tables of six or more customers. Judge Hill specifically concluded that Stinson was paid only \$2.13 per hour and that Appellants attempted to utilize the tip credit to make up the difference between that number and the statutory minimum wage of \$7.25 per hour. R. 11, 15 (10/16/14 Order).

Given the absence of any discussion of the service charge issue in Judge Hill's Order, if Appellants wished to make their service charge argument in this Court, it was incumbent on them to file a timely motion to reconsider pursuant to Rule 59(e). It is undisputed that Appellants did not file such a motion. Instead they filed this appeal without giving Judge Hill any notice of their argument that service charges should be added to Stinson's hourly wages, on a pay-period-by-pay-period basis, to reduce the amount of Appellants' liability.

Appellants later made a peculiar attempt to correct the failure to file a Rule 59(e) motion. After this appeal had been filed, a hearing was held before Judge McIntosh on Stinson's motion for attorneys' fees. The parties reached an agreement: the fee request was reasonable based on the damages awarded by Judge Hill and subject to this appeal. R. 328-29 (12/4/14 Hearing Tr. 3-4). But if the appeal proves successful and Stinson ends up recovering a smaller amount, Appellants have the right to seek a reduction in the

fee award. *Id.* However, just days after the parties walked out of Judge McIntosh's courtroom having memorialized this agreement, Appellants filed a Rule 59(e) motion purporting to seek reconsideration of the order formalizing their agreement. R. 253-58 (Mot. to Reconsider Fee Award).

In their motion to reconsider the stipulated order granting fees, Appellants admitted that Judge Hill's Order granting summary judgment did not address Appellants' eleventh-hour argument about service charges. R. 255. Appellants also admitted that "a ruling on [the damages argument] is necessary before such can be heard before the South Carolina Court of Appeals." R. 256 (citing *Ransom v. SC Water Resources Comm.*, 321 S.C. 211, 467 S.E.2d 463 (Ct. App. 1996)). Thus, it appears that Appellants attempted to substitute a motion to reconsider the fee award for a timely motion to reconsider the summary judgment Order.

Appellants should not be permitted to succeed in this transparent attempt to circumvent Rule 59(e)'s 10-day deadline. Appellants admit they received notice of the entry of the summary judgment Order on October 20, 2014. R. 332 (Notice of Appeal). The notice Appellants received on October 20 specifically advised that a copy of the formal Order could be requested in writing or by email. R. 333 (10/17/14 Form 4 Order). Thus, Appellants had ten days from October 20, 2014, to file a Rule 59(e) motion. S.C.R.Civ.P., Rule 59(e). They filed this appeal on November 14, 2014, and only later filed a motion to reconsider the fee award, on December 15, 2014. R. 332; 25. The motion to reconsider the fee award therefore cannot substitute for a timely motion to reconsider the summary judgment Order. It merely serves to underscore the point that

Judge Hill did not have notice of Appellants' service charge off-set argument until after this appeal deprived him of jurisdiction to revisit his summary judgment ruling.

Appellants' argument on appeal is not preserved. It was not fairly articulated to Judge Hill in connection with briefing or argument of the summary judgment motion, nor was it raised in a timely Rule 59(e) motion. As such, this Court should find the issue unpreserved, and affirm the judgment below.

II. The trial court did not err in granting summary judgment in favor of Respondent Laurin Stinson in an amount established by admissible evidence in the record, including materials submitted by Appellants.

a. Standard of Review

When reviewing a grant of summary judgment, an appellate court applies the same standard applied by the trial court. *Grinnell Corp. v. Wood*, 389 S.C. 350, 355, 698 S.E.2d 796, 798 (2010). Accordingly, the evidence and all reasonable inferences must be viewed in the light most favorable to the non-moving party. *Id.* However, this does not mean that the non-moving party may rest on conclusory assertions, inadmissible evidence or speculation. The non-moving party must set forth specific facts, admissible in evidence, showing there is a genuine issue for trial. S.C.R.Civ.P., Rule 56(e); *Moody v. McLellan*, 295 S.C. 157, 163-64, 367 S.E.2d 449, 452-53 (Ct. App. 1988). Failure to respond to a properly supported motion for summary judgment with competent evidence warrants judgment in favor of the moving party. *Id.*

b. Appellants have not offered competent evidence to create a question of fact warranting reversal of Judge Hill's summary judgment Order.

It is well settled that the time period for determining payment of the federal minimum wage is a standard seven-day workweek. *See, e.g., Dove v. Coupe*, 759 F.2d 167, 172 (D.C. Cir. 1985) (standard workweek is appropriate time period for measuring

minimum wage compliance by comparing hours worked and wages); *Blankenship v. Thurston Motor Lines, Inc.*, 415 F.2d 1193, 1198 (4th Cir. 1969) (same); *United States v. Klinghoffer Bros. Realty Corp.*, 285 F.2d 487, 490 (2d Cir.1960) (same). Accordingly, employers are required to maintain records reflecting earnings on at least a weekly basis. 29 C.F.R. § 516.2(a)(8) (requiring employers to maintain records of “[t]otal daily or weekly straight-time earnings or wages due for hours worked during the workday or workweek”); 29 C.F.R. § 516.28(a)(4) & (5) (requiring employers seeking to claim the tip credit to maintain records of “total daily or weekly straight-time payment” for both tipped and un-tipped work).

When an employer fails to keep required records under the FLSA, such employer, and not its employees, must suffer the consequences when the missing records pertain to a disputed wage claim. The Supreme Court explained the rationale for this rule:

where the employer's records are inaccurate or inadequate and the employee cannot offer convincing substitutes a more difficult problem arises. The solution, however, is not to penalize the employee by denying him any recovery on the ground that he is unable to prove the precise extent of uncompensated work.

...

The employer cannot be heard to complain that the damages lack the exactness and precision of measurement that would be possible had he kept records in accordance with the requirements of [the FLSA].

Anderson v. Mt. Clemens Pottery Co., 328 U.S. 680, 687-88 (1946). See also, *Bingham v. Airport Limousine Serv.*, 314 F. Supp. 565, 572 (W.D. Ark. 1970) (“It is perhaps true that defendant did not anticipate the need of accurate record-keeping, but the penalty for such an omission must fall upon the employer and not upon his employees.”). Thus, to the extent it is necessary to estimate, extrapolate, or guess as to work hours or pay that

should have been properly recorded by an employer but were not, it is the employer that must face the consequences of its own non-compliance.

Stinson's motion for summary judgment was based on simple and undisputed facts. Appellants acknowledged that Stinson was paid \$2.13 per hour throughout her employment and depended on tips to supplement that hourly wage. R. 114 (Resp. to SJ Mot.); 174 (Defs. Suppl. Resp. to Pl. 1st Interrog. No. 14). Further, Appellants conceded that they deducted a portion of Stinson's tips each shift. As Stinson argued in the court below, and Appellants do not contest on this appeal, the deductions were improper, and thus rendered Appellants ineligible to claim the tip credit. The parties submitted uncontested evidence concerning the number of hours Stinson worked (1,872.51). The award of damages in this case was therefore a simple calculation: the difference between the federal minimum wage (\$7.25) and the hourly wage Stinson received (\$2.13), multiplied by the number of hours she worked. Judge Hill thus multiplied 1,872.51 by \$5.12, and arrived at a damages figure of \$9,587.25. R. 15 (10/16/14 Order). This amount was then doubled pursuant to the FLSA's liquidated damages provision, a step that Appellants do not challenge on appeal.

Appellants do not challenge Judge Hill's conclusion that they were ineligible to claim the tip credit. Rather, they argue that Stinson's hourly wage of \$2.13 is not the proper baseline for subtracting from the minimum wage because Stinson also earned service charge "wages." However, even if Appellants' interpretation of the law is correct, they did not offer competent proof as to any weekly wages above the regular \$2.13 hourly wage.

All Appellants submitted to document the service charges on tables of six or more customers was a set of wage records organized by pay period. R. 122-29 (Resp. to SJ Mot. Ex. 4). Because each pay period consisted of two weeks, it is impossible to tell, in any particular week, how many hours were worked and how much was earned through service charges. This renders it impossible to calculate the combined value of \$2.13 in hourly pay and applicable service charge pay on a weekly basis.³ Even accepting Appellants' theory for the sake of argument, there is no way to determine how much the service charges offset the wage disparity of \$5.12 per hour caused by the improper deductions.

In addition to the problems with extrapolating weekly averages from bi-weekly work hours and pay data, from the period from October 2011 through February 2012, Appellants do not even have bi-weekly pay data. In their motion to reconsider the fee award in the court below, Appellants used the average of their bi-weekly calculations for the other weeks (which, as explained above, are themselves illegitimate) to guess as to the damages owed for the weeks not covered by their records. R. 261 (Mot. to Reconsider Fee Award Ex. A, pg. 3). In other words, Appellants are asking this Court to remand this case to the Circuit Court so that it can argue for a new damages measure that is completely unrelated to both the actual hours worked and actual wages paid during the weeks in question.